FOUNDER'S DAY

The annual observance of Founder's Day was resumed on October 19th after a lapse of seventeen years. This day marked the 167th anniversary of Bishop Brownell's birth, the founder and first president of the College.

At a ceremony in front of the Bishop's statue after the Hobart game, Professor Emeritus Henry A. Perkins presented to President Funston a portrait of Bishop Brownell. This handsome work of art is the gift of Mrs. C. Morgan Aldrich, great-granddaughter of Bishop Brownell, and is given in memory of her son, Thomas Chapman Aldrich, who was killed at Leyte in December 1944.

Bishop Walter H. Gray, Hon. 1941, was introduced by Chaplain O'Grady. He recalled briefly the early history of the College, and the exercises were concluded with the benediction pronounced by Bishop Frederick G. Budlong, Hon. 1933.

There was a buffet supper in Cook Dining Hall for 250 alumni and friends of the College. Judge Alex W. Creedon, '09, presided over a short meeting in the Chemistry Auditorium, at which President Funston, Professor Humphrey, Dan Jessee, and Tom Wadlow spoke. The Pipes were in excellent voice, and gave several fine offerings of old and new songs.

COVER PICTURE
Charles S. Redding (left) President, Franklin Institute, is shown awarding the Institute's Vermilye Medal, October 4, to Martin W. Clement, '01, (Story on page 9)
President's Message

How happy I am to be able to tell you that every Trinity man who left for the service in good standing and who applied to return this fall has been readmitted to College! We welcome them back to the campus and are proud not only of their fine service records, but also that we may continue to teach them.

This fall the College year opened with an inspiring convocation conducted in the Chapel with Governor Baldwin delivering the speech of welcome. We have 827 students coming from twenty-six states, the District of Columbia and two foreign countries. Three quarters of the undergraduates are veterans. The freshman class numbers 240 men, and already shows great promise in studies, in athletics and in extra-curricular activities. The Extension School, whose classes are entirely separate from the regular College course, has 202 citizens of Greater Hartford enrolled in its evening courses. One half of them are veterans.

As many of you know, we are handling this record-breaking enrollment by doubling up in the dormitories, by running the regular College classes until 9:20 in the evening, and by the addition of nineteen faculty members and fifteen on a part-time basis. This brings up the problem of next fall’s student body. Mr. Holland, the Director of Admissions, already has over two hundred and sixty applications for the class of 1951, and there will be a number of Trinity G. I.’s still in the service applying for readmission. There will, therefore, be no trouble — quantitatively speaking — in replacing boys graduating this February, June, and September, or those who are drafted or who leave college for other reasons. But we want the best, so keep up the wonderful work you did this year when two-thirds of the new men admitted were recommended by Trinity alumni. Continue to urge good men to apply for admission in next September’s class.

In addition to the thousands coming to college under the G. I. Bill, there has been a long-term increase in the number of secondary school graduates seeking admission to college. This basic rise will continue. To do our job properly, we must have more space for athletics, living quarters, library, and endowment. Accordingly, with the approval of the Trustees we have made the announcement of our 125th Anniversary Development Program to seek funds for a field house, which will be a memorial to the sixty-seven Trinity men who lost their lives in World War II, two dormitories to house a total of 100 men, an extension of our library and administration offices, and general endowment. A. Northey Jones, 1917, is the general chairman, and he is now working with a steering committee of Newton C. Brainard; J. H. Kelso Davis, ’99; Robert S. Morris, ’16; Charles G. Woodward, ’98; and Judge Alexander W. Creedon, ’09, all of Hartford; John P. Elton, ’88, of Waterbury; Philip J. McCook,’95, and Robert B. O’Connor,’16, of New York City; Harmon T. Barber, ’19, of Windsor; and Thomas F. Flanagan, ’12, of Greenwich. Bob Morris has accepted the alumni chairmanship. The final plans are being completed with the architects, and in the near future we intend to launch our program.

Despite the crowded condition Trinity faces the coming scholastic year with optimism and pride in her ability to be of service to the city, state, and country in providing an educational opportunity to so many.
Professor Bissonnette Wins Walker Prize

DR. T. HUME BISSONNETTE, J. Pierpont Morgan Professor of Biology has been awarded the Walker Grand Honorary Prize of $1000 by the Boston Society of Natural History for his work on the influence of light upon the physiological processes of plants and animals. The prize was established in 1864 by Dr. William J. Walker, a physician of Boston and Newport, and one of the eminent early members of the Society. It is given once every five years for a scientific investigation or discovery of extraordinary merit in the field of natural history. This is a distinguished honor for Dr. Bissonnette, and we at Trinity are proud that he has been so recognized.

His investigations in conjunction with Earl E. Bailey show that the change from summer to winter coat and back again in ferrets, mink and weasels is controlled by the length of day and not, as commonly supposed, by cold and warmth, or by the change of color of their surroundings. He has been able to make weasels get white in spring instead of the autumn, and molt from white to white or from brown to brown at will, if given about four months' notice.

Dr. Bissonnette has just returned to Trinity after a year spent in Europe in the Information and Education Division of the U. S. Forces European Theater. From July 1945 to March 1946, he was stationed in Biarritz, France, as head of the Branch of the Biological Sciences at Biarritz American University in charge of setting up and directing the Biological Laboratories of that Army University. This University ran for three terms with approximately 3800, 4200 and 2200 students in each of the three terms. He was also General Adviser for all British students at the institution in the third term when quotas of Canadian, British, French, Belgian, Dutch and Poles were in attendance with the American soldier students.

From March until the end of June he was stationed at Hochst, Germany, a suburb of Frankfurt am Main, doing work for U. S. A. F. I., our Armed Forces Institute, in marking and correcting lessons in their correspondence courses. He spent also twelve days on detached duty in Berlin and was lucky enough to fly over Berlin out of Tempelhof Air Port,
where the planes come in under cover to load and unload. Five days were spent in the Kurhaus at Slangenbad where the Air Force Engineers have their headquarters, and three days in Wiesbaden where the European headquarters of our Air Forces are located. These places were all visited in the interest of the correspondence courses available to the men in the Armed Forces.

In Berlin he looked up Erwin Stresemann, professor of Ornithology and Curator of Birds in the University of Berlin, who had visited Dr. Bissonnette’s laboratories in Trinity College in 1937 while in the U.S.A. on a Fellowship from Europe. He also visited the experiments then being carried out at Shade Swamp Sanctuary, Farmington, with pheasants, quail and raccoon under Dr. Bissonnette’s direction for the Fisheries and Game Department of the State of Connecticut. Dr. Stresemann still has his Professorship, but has lost most of his possessions and is separated from his wife, who is in the British Zone of Occupation near Bremen and cut off from him by the Russian Zone of Occupation of Germany proper.

Dr. Bissonnette had a nasty 9-day passage home in the forward A-1 hold of the U.S.S. Westerly Victory, which had to have her oil pump fixed up in mid-ocean. They had two blows within a couple of days of each other and he was sick five days. He arrived home 24 pounds lighter in weight than when he left for Europe on the Queen Elizabeth in a nice cabin amidships with a calm sea and no seasickness.

We welcome Dr. Bissonnette back again to the campus, and are glad that his oldest son, Julian, is enrolled as a new student.

Chaplain O'Grady

The Rev. Gerald B. O'Grady, Jr., has been appointed Chaplain of Trinity College with the rank of Assistant Professor. He assumed his duties on the campus October 1st, and is living at 69 Vernon Street with his wife, the former Miss Ann Gilman Nichols of Cambridge, Mass., and their two sons, Gerald, III, and Stephen.

After attending St. Thomas Choir School in New York City, where he was chorister and soloist under Dr. T. Tertius Noble, Hon. Mus. D. 1926, he went to the Western High School in Washington, D.C. He graduated from Williams in 1940, where he was a member of Chi Psi Fraternity, president of the Glee Club, co-director of the Chapel choir, vice president of the Interfraternity Treasurers' Association, and carillonneur of the Chapel. He majored in Philosophy under the late Professor James Bissett Pratt and Professor J. Williams Miller.

He then studied at the Episcopal Theological School, Cambridge, Mass., graduating in 1943. During his work at the Seminary he served as assistant to the chaplain to the Episcopal students at Harvard, and was lay assistant for college work at Trinity Church, Boston.

Chaplain O'Grady comes to Trinity from Cornell University, where he has been the Episcopal Chaplain and assistant to the rector of St. John's Parish, Ithaca, N. Y. He was also acting Chaplain to all Army and Navy personnel in the College Training Program at Cornell.

Plans are being made to institute formally our new Chaplain into his office at a regular Wednesday morning Chapel service sometime in November.
Trinity: Old and New

When Hartford became the sole capital of Connecticut, the city decided in 1872 to purchase the Trinity College Campus for the erection of the new State House. At that time Trinity consisted of three buildings—Seabury, Jarvis and Brownell Halls, the latter two being dormitories. Seabury Hall, which was designed by the inventor S. F. B. Morse, contained the Chapel, the class rooms, the museum and the scientific apparatus. Each student had a sizeable sitting room lighted by a kerosene lamp. Meals were taken outside. Chapel was compulsory every morning, every afternoon but Wednesday, Saturday and Sunday.

We had first class instruction. Edwin E. Johnson taught English and preached it eloquently. President Pynchon taught Butler's Analogy as if he had written it, and Comparative Anatomy in terms which never could be forgotten. Professor Brocklesby taught Physics and Chemistry, and although splitting the atom was never dreamed of, we learned its relation to the molecule. Richardson taught French and German; it seemed as if they were his native tongues. The Catholic Apostolic Andrews led us into the most refined paths of Logic and Philosophy; Smythe taught Greek trippingly on the tongue; Holbrooke, peace to his ashes—was imperator, and Duce in one, never passing the least mistake in translation or scansion; Professor Hart taught everything, Mathematics, Astronomy, Surveying, Navigation, "Piety" (the Monday morning classes, chiefly the Old and the New Testament), and Hebrew to students for the ministry who wished to start early.

Every man studied exactly the same works from his first day as a Freshman to his last as a Senior, but in all my limited reading of seventy years since then, I do not recall a subject that did not have its roots in those four years. Interest in studies naturally varied, but no young man could have failed to get something from daily contact with those intellectual masters of learning. There was, of course, always a latent spirit of mischief, which broke bounds from time to time, but was always reined in.

Brownell Hall had been demolished to make room for the increasing Capitol. We heard from the east windows the click, click, click of the mason's hammers all day long, and felt as if we were living in a stone yard. But it did not interfere with the College routine. We went to Chapel and classes just the same without any interruption to the last hour of
Commencement Day. I do not recall any ceremonial for leaving the old College (in 1878) but Bishop Williams preached the last sermon in the Chapel, from the text, "More­over, it is required in stewards that a man be found faithful," one of the most magnifi­cent sermons I ever heard from him or anyone else, and that made a fitting valedictory. But when we came to the new buildings in the fall, we seemed to have entered a new and beautiful world. It was not completely finished. I remember that in Seabury Hall we climbed the stringers of a stairway before the treads were laid to reach at least one class room. But Chapel, class rooms and dormitories were all ready for occupancy, and we dropped into place in the new as naturally as we had left the old. I do not recall any ceremony for occupation.

The morning sun flooded our bedrooms, so that there was no excuse for lying in bed late, and rushing to Chapel at the last minute. Then for breakfast all we had to do was to go down into the basement and find it all ready. Our Class Day was begun out of doors, but rain drove us into Seabury Hall. Commencement was held as usual in the Opera House down town. President Pynchon, I believe, preached the baccalaureate sermon in the College Chapel.

And so, as Pepys would say, but not to bed, but to a grand succession of history under Presidents Pynchon, Smith, Luther, Ogiby, and now a new era under Funston.

Fine Arts

TRINITY has long recognized the Fine Arts as a necessary part of a liberal education. Art history is relatively new in college curricula, and even newer are practice courses, that is, ones in which students actually draw, paint, or practice sculpture. But courses of the latter type, under proper guidance, have amply demonstrated their worth. No longer are they regarded as educational frills that divert students from more "serious" or "practical" pursuits. Courses of this sort, in art or anything else, illustrate the ancient truth that the best way to learn a thing is to do it. For example, laboratory work in physics, chemistry, or engineering not only supple­ments, but vividly illustrates, what was heard in a lecture or read in a text-book.

Let it not be assumed, on the other hand, that lectures on art history take second place in a properly run department. On the con­trary, they are just as necessary as "practice" courses, for they contribute in a very real way to a student's understanding of what is meant by civilization. Art history makes him realize that the Fine Arts are among man's oldest and most constant activities, because beauty has always been one of man's most urgent necessities. Ideally, therefore, lecture courses and practice courses should supple­ment one another whenever possible.

Generally speaking, we believe that students who seek a liberal education should be exposed to the arts. Thus a candidate for the B.A. degree may choose a course in English B or C which are courses in com­position, or a course in Fine Arts or Music.

But in order to give talented young men more chance to develop their capabilities, a Fine Arts Major was designed by the Music and Art Departments. This is divided into three separate categories according to the interests and capabilities of the students.

1. Fine Arts. Three courses in the department, and one course in Music.

2. Music. Three courses in the department, and one in Fine Arts.

3. The third category is designed for students who are interested in the arts but who may not plan to make a career in any one of them. In this case it was felt that two courses in each department would be requis­ite. We believe that this plan will give a wide and thorough grounding in the essentials of both art and music, and will show the fundamental relationship between all the arts. Thus a student would be well prepared, when he left Trinity, to continue his studies at a professional school. This is our belief, for the Fine Arts Major, until September 1946, had not yet been tried out. No sooner had it been arranged and put in the Catalogue when the Navy appeared on the campus, and the members of the Art and Music Departments were "retooled" for wartime teaching.

Though, during the war years, I taught Engineering Drawing and Descriptive Geom­etry to the young sailors, and Professor Watters of the Music Department taught them English, both of us managed to keep "art work" going at the College. There were Extension courses in the evening, as usual, and now and then small daytime classes in art or music were held. When the war ended, and the V-12 left us in October 1943, the regular art curriculum was resumed.
Our present program in Fine Arts is as follows:

**Fine Arts 1.** The introductory course to art history, and required of all students who want extended work in this subject. The course deals with western art (European and American) with special emphasis on painting.

**Fine Arts 2.** Our one "practice" course. It includes drawing (charcoal, pencil, Conte crayon) as taught in art schools. During the second semester most of the work is done in oil paint.

**Fine Arts 3.** This deals with modern art, that is, from the French Revolution to the present day. While it includes part of the ground covered in Fine Arts 1, it does so in a much more detailed manner than is possible in the introductory course.

**Fine Arts 4a.** A half-year course in the history of architectural style.

**Fine Arts 5b.** The history of Classical art to the fall of the Roman Empire. This is also a half-year course.

It can readily be seen that this program offers four lecture courses but only one practice course. The Department has thought for some time that more courses of the practice sort should be introduced. For students of special abilities and interests we should like to provide a more balanced diet. For example, a course in sculpture and one in graphic arts would be highly desirable. This idea is not the result of wishful thinking, but has been prompted by enquiries from students and from observation of art training methods elsewhere.

All of which brings us back to the first paragraph, wherein the desirability of practice courses as such was set forth. If laboratory work gives a student greater knowledge, appreciation, and understanding of the sciences, so in the same way will "lab" courses in art give him far greater comprehension of the real meaning of the Fine Arts. One always appreciates a thing far more if he has done it himself — even *en amateur*.

It is our fervent wish to have study in the Fine Arts at Trinity expand. If it does we shall, of course, need more adequate quarters — a studio and another room for the lectures — and a larger teaching staff.

But in any case, we are resuming art activities at Trinity with enthusiasm and high hopes.

**John C. E. Taylor,**
*Assistant Professor of Fine Arts*

---

**Tom Wadlow**

*After eleven years of devoted and loyal service as alumni secretary, Tom Wadlow leaves Trinity to join the administrative staff of Rockford College, Rockford, Illinois.*

A graduate of the Episcopal Academy, Philadelphia, Tom entered Trinity in 1929 with the class of 1933. Many alumni remember his brilliant play at half-back on the football team, and many of the class of 1934 learned to toe the mark under his chairmanship of the Sophomores Rules Committee. He is a member of the Phi Kappa Chapter of Alpha Delta Phi Fraternity.

After graduation in 1933, he taught at Howe School, Howe, Indiana, before returning to Trinity to become the alumni secretary. In 1938 he received his Master's degree in English.

He entered the Navy in January, 1943, as Lieutenant (j.g.) and served as commanding officer aboard the YP 378 and U.S.S. Bateleur, operating from Newport, Rhode Island. A year later he was transferred to England as executive officer and navigator of the fleet minesweeper, U.S.S. Pheasant. He took part in the invasions of Normandy and Southern France, for which exploits he was promoted to Lieutenant Commander.

We shall miss Tom's ready smile and subtle wit. We will not forget his successful organization of the Alumni Fund and his able work on alumni placement. On the distaff side Laura is a leader in the Faculty Wives Club, and never misses a home game. And as for the junior membership, Tommy already shows his dad's football speed in his tricycle workouts. Our best wishes go with the Wadlows to their new venture.
Vermilye Award

Martin W. Clement, '01, president of the Pennsylvania Railroad, was presented the Vermilye Medal of the Franklin Institute for his conspicuous wartime accomplishments of integrating the system's transportation facilities to the needs of the Nation. Charles S. Redding, president of the institute, bestowed the medal on Mr. Clement in Franklin Hall, Philadelphia, on October 4, before a distinguished gathering of industrialists, financiers and others associated with the business and cultural life of the city.

The citation accompanying the award says in part, "Prompt action under his leadership came in time to accomplish the necessary improvements so that the Pennsylvania Railroad was ready when needed, to carry the heavy war time flow of materials and men."

In accepting the medal, Mr. Clement reviewed the activities of American Railroads in the recent war as compared with World War I when the Government operated the railroads and increased freight rates 100 percent and passenger fares 50 percent. He went on to say, "In World War II never was so great a volume of traffic handled with so little congestion." In conclusion he said, "I accept this award on behalf of all the railroad industry, of which my company is a part. The accomplishments of neither industry nor the railroads are comparable to the work of the armed forces — the most magnificent on earth."

Established in 1939 by the late William N. Vermilye, then vice president of the National City Bank of New York, the Vermilye Medal recognizes outstanding contributions in the field of industrial management. In 1939 the medal was awarded to Lewis H. Brown, president of the Johns-Manville Corporation; in 1941 to Walter S. Knudson, director general of the Office of Production Management; and in 1943 to Walter S. Gifford, president of the American Telephone and Telegraph Company.

Charles G. Woodward

At the June 14th meeting of the Board of Trustees Mr. Charles G. Woodward, 1898, presented his resignation as Secretary of the Board. The next morning when the Trustees reconvened President Funston read the following resolution, and it was voted that it be spread upon the minutes:

"Whereas Mr. Charles G. Woodward has found it necessary, for reason which his colleagues cannot dispute, to tender his resignation as Secretary of the Board of Trustees of Trinity College:

"Be it resolved: That the Trustees of Trinity College express to Mr. Woodward their deep and heartfelt appreciation for his loyalty in undertaking the exacting task of Secretary for the past seventeen years and for the punctilious care with which he has exercised his responsibilities. During this long tenure in office, the progress of the College has been unparalleled; and Mr. Woodward, in his position of trust, has exercised extraordinary
leadership and made a substantial contribution to the successful operation not only of this body but of the entire College.”

We are indeed fortunate that Mr. Woodward will continue to serve on the finance committee, for his skill and genius in investing the College’s securities has meant much to Trinity in the past years. Also, he will remain on the Executive Committee of the Trustees where his sound advice and counsel has been of inestimable aid to President Funston. Mr. Lyman B. Brainerd, ’30, has been elected the new Secretary of the Board.

Mr. Woodward prepared for Trinity at the Collins Street Classical School, Hartford, and entered college in the fall of 1894. He was a member of the track team, and won many prizes for his skill on the parallel and horizontal bars in gymnastics. His fraternity affiliation is the Beta Beta Chapter of Psi Upsilon. He graduated Phi Beta Kappa in 1898 with a Bachelor of Arts degree, and received his Master of Arts degree from Trinity in 1901 after having done graduate work at Columbia University.

He entered the employ of The Connecticut General Life Insurance Company as a financial statistician. In 1911 he became financial secretary, and in 1924 he was made a vice president. He is now a member of the Board of Directors and vice chairman of the Finance Committee.


Mr. Woodward has also been a leader in the Episcopal church in Connecticut, and a cooperator of the American School for the Deaf and of the Windham Community Memorial Hospital.

The Jesters’ first production will be

"GOLDEN BOY"—by Clifford Odets

December 5, 6, 7

at the Avery Memorial

History Department

IT IS A PLEASURE for me to inform the Alumni of Trinity College that its History Department is well along the road to reconversion. World War II reduced its active force to myself alone. Three of its instructors, George Brinton Cooper, Laurence Lafore, and Howard Kramer were granted leaves of absence for service with their country. Of these, Mr. Cooper has resumed active duty at Trinity.

George Brinton Cooper, a Swarthmore-Yale alumnus, left Trinity in 1943, for training at the U. S. Naval Intelligence School at Boulder, Colorado. In 1944 he was transferred to the State Department and attached to the London Embassy as Vice Consul. Foreign Commerce Weekly (December 25, 1945) has as its leading article his study of “Preliminary Stages of Transition in Britain.” George’s specialty is English and European history, and his two years of practical work in London will add much of pragmatic value to the Department.

Many of you will be interested to learn of the war experiences of Mr. Lafore and Mr. Kramer.

Laurence Lafore, specialist in international affairs, (Swarthmore-Fletcher School of Diplomacy) went to Washington, May 1942, to serve the Division of the American Republics of the State Department in its “Political Warfare” section—keeping track of enemy activities. He was transferred to the OWI (July 1943) and stationed in London as a member of its French section. He analyzed reports; wrote information pamphlets for distribution over Europe; assisted in the publication of the weekly newspaper L’Amerique en guerre (dropped by planes on France); and broadcast to Occupied France. One of his pamphlets, The U. S. Against Vichy, is to be found in the State Department’s War and Peace. Mr. Lafore moved on to Paris, October, 1944, in the office of the press attache of the American Embassy. Larry cannot return to Trinity before the 1947-1948 academic year.

Howard Kramer, who came to Trinity from the University of Iowa, left for service with the American Red Cross, June 1943. Seeking more active duties nearer the front, he transferred to the OWI in March 1944, and was sent to Australia in August.
General MacArthur's headquarters he assisted in psychological warfare activities for the Philippines and Japan. Dr. Kramer went into the Philippines with MacArthur's forces and in 1946, he was placed in charge of the OWI there. He accompanied MacArthur's headquarters to Japan as the OWI representative. Thence, he was returned to Manila and given charge of the U. S. Information Service, now a branch of the State Department. Howard's duties will prevent his return to Trinity before the 1947-1948 academic year, if that early. Apparently, he still has quite a job on his hands.

Dr. D. G. Brinton Thompson joined the History Department last fall. He was graduated from the University of Pennsylvania, A. B., 1920, and, in 1923, from Massachusetts Institute of Technology, B. S. From 1924 to 1941, he was an engineer and executive in industry. He is a director in several companies. In September 1941, he entered the Graduate School of Columbia University and received a Ph. D. in 1945. His specialty is the history of the United States, particularly the Middle Atlantic States. For two years at the beginning of the war, he was a member of the Advisory Board of Selective Service Board No. 44 of New York County. He taught at Lafayette College from 1943 to 1945. His publications include "Samuel B. Ruggles and His Connection with the Erie Canal," in New York History, January 1944, and articles written while he was in business. His biography of Samuel B. Ruggles, "Ruggles of New York," is being published this fall in the Columbia Studies (Columbia University Press). Brinton is a member of Delta Psi Fraternity and the Phi Beta Kappa Society.

Political Science at Trinity will be taught this fall by Dr. Laurence L. Barber, Jr., a returned U. S. Army technician 4th grade. Mr. Barber was graduated from Harvard College, Class of 1937, Magna cum laude and Phi Beta Kappa. He received his Ph. D. from Harvard University in 1941, and remained there as assistant in government and research and then as instructor in Government and Public Relations in Harvard College, Radcliffe and Boston University. As research assistant he served with the Harvard Bureau of Research in Municipal Government, with the Speaker of the Massachusetts House of Representatives, with the Association of Massachusetts Finance Committee on Local Public Welfare Administration, with the Belmont (Massachusetts) Taxpayers Association, and with the Reading (Massachusetts) Committee on Representative Town Meeting Form of Government. He participated in the New Hampshire State Planning and Development Commission Survey of the Portsmouth Defense Region.

Dr. Barber has published a revision of the Campaign Manual for the Cambridge Committee for Plan E, 1942. His article "National Defense and Local Government; A Study of the Quincy, Massachusetts, Area," was printed in Public Policy (1943). During the war he served as Classification Specialist, at Fort Devens and at the 19th Replacement Depot in France; also as Information-Educational Specialist, 12th Army Group (later Headquarters Command) U. S. Forces in European Theater, France and Germany. He was awarded the Certificate of Merit, and the Battle Participation Stars Northern France, Ardennes, Rhineland, and Central Europe.

Dr. Roger Shaw of Hastings-on-Hudson, New York, came to Trinity this September and will teach International Relations. He graduated from Johns Hopkins in 1925 A.B., and received his M.A. from Columbia in 1928. This past summer he received his Ph.D. from Fordham University.

He has been a reporter on the Reading, Pennsylvania "Times" from 1925 to 1927,
and was associated with Review of Reviews Magazine from 1928 to 1937 in their foreign affairs department. He was the foreign editor of Literary Digest Magazine from 1937 to 1938. From 1939 to 1941 he was a radio war commentator. During the war he became a licensed airplane riveter as well as being chairman of the Hastings war council and civilian defense.

He is a member of Beta Theta Pi, Sons of American Revolution, Society of American Military Engineers, the American Historical Society, and a trustee of Rollins College from which he received an LL.D. degree in 1945. Dr. Shaw is the author of several books: Outline of Governments, Handbook of Revolutions, One Hundred and Seventy-five Battles, Mars Marches On, and Austro-Frankenstein.

Mr. Robert J. Kramer, who received his M.A. degree from Trinity last June, will teach courses in our Extension School. He received his B.A. from Bates College in 1935.

Thus, you see, the History Department at Trinity is well-staffed for the coming academic year. During the war its offerings were reduced almost entirely to elementary courses. Indeed, the only course taken by most V-12's was that in general United States History. Naturally, it will take some time to reconstitute the various branches of the history curriculum looking toward pre-law, pre-public service, and pre-foreign service. For 1946-1947, it is planned to offer advanced (upper class) work in most fields of history and government: Ancient, European, United States and British history; government; political science; and international relations.

Edward Frank Humphrey,  
Northam Professor of History and Political Science

George Legacy

TRINITY has received a legacy of $3,000 from Mrs. Jane Fitch George, the widow of the Rev. James Hardin George, 1872, the income to be used as a scholarship for the benefit of deserving students.

The Rev. Mr. George was Phi Beta Kappa and salutatorian of his class. For many years he served as Rector of historic Trinity Church, Newtown, Connecticut. His son, the Rev. James Hardin George, Jr., 1905, and his nephew Willis B. George, 1916, are graduates of the College. The Rev. George also had two brothers, the Rev. John Francis George, 1877, and Thomas George, 1880, and a nephew, Nelson J. George, 1916, who were Trinity graduates.

The College is very grateful for this bequest from a loyal Trinity family, because it helps to fulfill a very pressing need.

Fraternities

RUSHING among the newly decorated and re-furnished fraternities was held the first ten days of college on campus. The maximum quota for each house was 20 freshmen, and no limit on upperclassmen.

<table>
<thead>
<tr>
<th>Fraternity</th>
<th>Freshmen</th>
<th>Upperclass</th>
</tr>
</thead>
<tbody>
<tr>
<td>AXP</td>
<td>25</td>
<td>19</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>ΔΔΦ</td>
<td>21</td>
<td>13</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>ΔΚΕ</td>
<td>13</td>
<td>19</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>ΔΦ</td>
<td>26</td>
<td>14</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>ΔΨ</td>
<td>16</td>
<td>15</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>ΨΓ</td>
<td>22</td>
<td>19</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>ΣΝ</td>
<td>38</td>
<td>17</td>
</tr>
</tbody>
</table>

The Alpha Chi Rho 50th Jubilee Convention was held at the Mother Chapter, Phi Psi, on October 11 and 12. The Rev. Carl G. Zeigler, 1897, one of the fraternity's founders, conducted a memorial service in the Chapel of Perfect Friendship for those Brothers who gave their lives in World War II. The Convention concluded with a banquet at the Bond Hotel at which President Funston was one of the speakers.
Football

Fifty candidates reported on September 10 to Dan Jesse, starting his twelfth year as head grid mentor, and his assistants Stew "Curly" Parks, Don Phelps, Joe Beidler, '42, and George James.

Although the squad is one of the heaviest on record, fewer than a dozen had tasted intercollegiate competition when they reported. Other problems included a search for a fast enough backfield combination to make the celebrated "T", installed for the first time this year, function properly. Dan had an excellent passer, but could only find one capable receiver.

Thus, despite overenthusiastic press notices, it was a very green eleven which entertained Bates on October 5 before a shirt-sleeve crowd of 3500 on Trinity field. Ducky Pond's Bobcats had the advantage of a game under their belts, and their speed made them admirably suited to the single wing which they used. Trinity's blocking was poor and the tackles did not stick. Appreciable gains on one play were nullified by long losses or penalties on the next. The result was a bitterly disappointing 25-0 defeat.

The next Saturday at Middlebury College, the Trinity team played a wide-awake brand of ball and rolled over the Panthers 28-7. Sparked by Frank Eblen who scored two touchdowns and gained 85 of the 282 yards, it was a different looking Hilltopper aggregation. Whitey Kunkiewicz was a thorn in Middlebury's side all afternoon with his bullet passes and runs. Dick Weisenfluh's punting was excellent, while Pete Vibert split the uprights four times for the point after touchdown. The blocking and tackling showed a distinct improvement over the Bates game, and in the last quarter the second team gave a fine exhibition and held the Panthers from scoring.

Trinity's attack this fall centers around Whitey Kunkiewicz, quarterback, and Frank Eblen, two freshmen from Torrington and West Hartford, respectively. The "blond bomber" is one of the finest passers ever seen on the Hilltop and he is an exceptional blocker. And as Middlebury found out he also totes the ball. Frank made a brilliant forty yard run against Bates which would have been a sure touchdown with any semblance of blocking, and as mentioned above was the sparkplug against the Panthers.

Dick Weisenfluh, the veteran letterman who is now married and daddy of a brand new daughter, was tried first at end but now is fullback as well as taking care of the punting. Harold Heintz, former Hartford High star, Tom Steel of Southington, Pete Vibert of Unionville, Rog Hall of Cheshire, and Ford Ransom of Windsor are other backs who will see plenty of action.

The ends, Al Pope of Hartford and Joe Ponsalle of Bridgeport, are showing steady improvement, and the latter is a sure-fire pass receiver. Dave Mahoney and John Noonan both of Hartford are capable substitutes.

This year Trinity boasts a pair of giant tackles, Mitch Holmgren, letterman from
East Hartford, and Fred Gelderman of Williston Park, N.Y. Both weigh in the vicinity of 240 pounds which is more beef than you are likely to see for some time to come. Bruce Bixler of Louisville, Ohio, and Jack Gilmore of West Hartford are capable reserves.

The guard posts are occasioning a lively tussle with four men in the immediate running. Merlin “Cal” Kolakowski, a freshman from Hartford, and John Dolan, letterman from Turners Falls, Mass., started the Middlebury game, but Bill Carothers, letterman from Philadelphia, Penn., and little Ernie Peseux, vest pocket edition from Hazlitt, N.J., have served notice that the issue is far from closed.

Trinity has had a fine succession of centers and no exception is Roger “Whitey” Bestor who lives in Bloomfield and comes to us via Brown where he played last year. “Whitey” was the outstanding defensive player against the Bobcats and played brilliantly even as the score mounted. Cy Seymour of Hartford is his relief man.

There are no soft spots ahead — Hobart, Williams, Norwich, and Wesleyan — but Trin has begun to roll!

John M. Tweedy, 48
Manager

### Faculty Changes

PROFESSOR ALLEN has been promoted to be professor of the James J. Goodwin Chair of English literature.

JOSEPH B. BEIDLER, 1942, has been appointed instructor of Physical Education. Many alumni will remember Joe as a star on the football, basketball and baseball teams. He was captain of baseball his senior year. This summer he received his M. A. degree in Physical Education at Columbia. During the war he was a Lieutenant, Senior Grade. He is married to the former Miss Ruby Hall, and they are living at 90 Vernon St. Joe is the first winner of the Trinity blanket award started in 1940 to those who make two letters in three major sports.

KENNETH W. CAMERON has been appointed an assistant professor of English. He graduated from West Virginia University in 1930, and from the General Theological Seminary in 1934. He received his D. from Yale in 1940. He was instructor of English at the State College of the University of North Carolina from 1938 to 1944, and since then assistant professor of English at Temple University.

JOHN E. CANDELET has been appointed Veterans and Career Counsellor. He has the rank of assistant professor and will teach Economics. He graduated from Colby, Phi Beta Kappa in 1927. He received his M. A. degree from Colby in 1928, and an M. B. A. degree from Pennsylvania in 1929. He was studying for his Ph.D. degree at the New School for Social Research when he was called to active duty at the U. S. Naval Air Station at Ottumwa, Iowa, where he served as an Executive Officer with the rank of Lieutenant Commander. Before the war he taught at Northeastern University, and then went to Rhode Island State in 1936. In 1940 he was promoted to the head of the Economics Department there.

JOSEPH C. CLARKE has been appointed Assistant Dean. He will continue to coach varsity swimming.

J. BARD McNULTY has been promoted to assistant professor of English.

STUART L. PARKS has been appointed instructor of Physical Education. He is a graduate from Springfield College, and received his M. Ed. from there in 1938. He was captain of the football, basketball, and track teams. He holds the Springfield sprint records. Ray Coasting was the former record holder. He coached football, basketball, and tennis at Grinnell College, Grinnell, Iowa, and at the College of Puget Sound, Tacoma, Washington, before entering the U. S. Army Air Forces in 1942, in which he held the rank of 1st Lieutenant.

DONALD L. PHELPS has been appointed instructor of Physical Education. He graduated from the University of Washington in 1941. He was halfback on the football team for three years. During the war he served in the U. S. Army Eighth Air Force in England for three years with the rank of Major. He received his M.A. this summer from Teachers College, Columbia University. He is engaged to Miss Anna Peiser of Richmond, Virginia.

CHRISTOPHER V. SALMON will be visiting lecturer in Philosophy for the Trinity term commencing February 1947. He is a graduate of Harrow School and of Balliol College, Oxford. He studied at Princeton and at the Sorbonne before receiving his Ph.D. in

---

### NECROLOGY

<table>
<thead>
<tr>
<th>Name</th>
<th>Class</th>
<th>Date</th>
</tr>
</thead>
<tbody>
<tr>
<td>Silas H. Parks</td>
<td>1882</td>
<td>Nov. 7, 1943</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>J. Frederick Sexton</td>
<td>1883</td>
<td>July 8, 1946</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Charles W. Bowman</td>
<td>1887</td>
<td>Oct. 4, 1945</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>John T. Carpenter, Jr.</td>
<td>1888</td>
<td>Sept. 16, 1946</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>William P. Niles</td>
<td>1893</td>
<td>Sept. 19, 1946</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Francis P. Johnson</td>
<td>1894</td>
<td>Date unknown</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Oliver W. Badgley</td>
<td>1907</td>
<td>Sept. 5, 1937</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Herman T. Morgan</td>
<td>1908</td>
<td>Aug. 9, 1946</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>William H. Bailey</td>
<td>1909</td>
<td>Nov. 17, 1942</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Harold B. Dye</td>
<td>1909</td>
<td>Date unknown</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Alfred J. Stafford</td>
<td>1909</td>
<td>Sept. 23, 1946</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Herbert L. Richards</td>
<td>1910</td>
<td>Feb. 28, 1943</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Ward Slawson</td>
<td>1910</td>
<td>Aug. 6, 1941</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Sherman Cawley</td>
<td>1911</td>
<td>Sept. 29, 1946</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Edward P. Wroth</td>
<td>1915</td>
<td>June 22, 1946</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Chauncey O. Way</td>
<td>1925</td>
<td>Date unknown</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Richard B. Talcott</td>
<td>1926</td>
<td>Sept. 28, 1946</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Charles H. Mortimer</td>
<td>1933</td>
<td>Jan. 25, 1944</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Dwight J. Boardman</td>
<td>1941</td>
<td>Aug. 12, 1944</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Robert S. Leschke</td>
<td>1943</td>
<td>Sept. 13, 1946</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Pasquale R. Arace</td>
<td>1945</td>
<td>Aug. 11, 1946</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Lawrence L. Lattizori</td>
<td>1946</td>
<td>Killed in action July 24, 1954</td>
</tr>
</tbody>
</table>
Germany. He taught philosophy at Queen's University, Belfast, and at Bristol University. Dr. Salmon was assistant director of talks for the British Broadcasting Company in World War II.

ROGER SHAW has been appointed assistant professor of History. A graduate of Johns Hopkins in 1925, he received his M.A. from Columbia in 1928, and his Ph.D. from Fordham this summer. He was a reporter from 1925 to 1927 for the Reading, Pa., Times and worked on foreign affairs for the Review of Reviews from 1928 to 1937. He was foreign editor of Literary Digest from 1937 to 1938. During the war he was a radio commentator, a licensed aeroplane riveter, and chairman of the Hastings war council and civil defense. He is a trustee of Rollins College, and received a LL.D. degree from that institution in 1945.

JOHN M. TOWNSEND has been appointed instructor in Engineering. He is a graduate of Worcester Polytechnic Institute, and has been teaching at the Yale School of Engineering.

RANDALL W. TUCKER has been appointed an instructor in Economics. A graduate of Northeastern University, he received his Master's degree of business administration from the University of Chicago. He taught accounting at Rhode Island State College from 1938 to 1942, and then served three years in the Navy as a Lieutenant Commander in the Supply Corps.

Faculty News

DR. ADAMS has published an article in the July Rhode Island History Magazine on the relationship between the Patriotic Society and the Historical Society.

PROFESSORS BARRET and ADAMS represented the Beta (Connecticut) Chapter of Phi Beta Kappa at the 21st Councils of Chapters at Williamsburg, Virginia, on September 11. DR. ADAMS was elected President of the New England Division.

PROFESSOR CONSTANT, DR. McCUNE, and MR. KNIGHT of the Physics Department attended the American Physical Society meetings in New York City, September 19-21.

DEAN HUGHES became the father of a daughter, Kathleen Howard, on October 2.

PROFESSOR KRIEBLE attended the American Chemical Society's annual meeting in Chicago September 5-11.

PROFESSOR TROXELL attended the 40th annual convention of the Association of State Geologists at Silvan Lake Lodge, Black Hills, South Dakota.

PROFESSOR WATTERS gave a recital in New London on July 8 as part of the city's Tercentenary observance. He played October 20th at the U. S. Military Academy, West Point, N. Y. The Chapel there has the largest church organ in the world with over 60 stops.

Alumni Notes

HON. —1926 —

JAMES L. McCONAUGHEY, former president of Wesleyan University, is the Republican candidate for governor of Connecticut.

HON. —1932 —

MORGAN B. BRAINARD is one of twelve New Englanders who have been appointed members of the National Citizens Committee of the Community Chests of America.

HON. —1935 —

Former Governor WILBUR L. CROSS is short term (November to January 1947) Democratic candidate for United States Senator in Connecticut.

HON. —1936 —

The RT. REV. HENRY K. SHERRILL has been elected presiding bishop of the Episcopal Church. During World War II he was chairman of the Episcopal Joint Commission on Army and Navy Chaplains, and also chairman of the General Commission on Army and Navy Chaplains.

HON. —1940 —

GOVERNOR RAYMOND E. BALDWIN is the Republican candidate for the U. S. Senate from Connecticut.

—1897 —

The REV. WILLIAM H. P. HATCH has retired from the Episcopal Theological School in Cambridge where he has been Professor of the Literature and Interpretation of the New Testament since 1917.

—1901 —

MARTIN W. CLEMENT was awarded an honorary degree of Doctor of Engineering by Bucknell University at the College's Centennial Commencement on June 29. The citation reads in part: "Because he typifies America with its opportunity for all men of vision who will work and assume responsibility."

—1906 —

CLIFTON C. BRAINERD is at present the principal in the Jones Junior High and Northwest Elementary Schools of Hartford, Conn. He also serves as Organist-Choirmaster of Trinity Church, Hartford.

PHILIP E. CURTISS is the co-author of the publication, "An Outline of Government in Connecticut."

The REV. DWIGHT W. GRAHAM has received a citation from the National Red Cross for his work as chairman of the Northern Steuben County Chapter, N. Y., during the war.

—1908 —

BRIGADIER-GENERAL PHILIP S. GAGE has been retired with the rank of Colonel.

KARL A. REICHE has been elected a member of the New England Regional Boy Scout Council. He is also a member-at-large of the National Boy Scout Council of America.

MARTIN TAYLOR was an official guest at the inauguration of the Philippine Republic at Manila on July 4, 1946. He spoke there to the Bar Association on the subject of the common law and its relation to democracy.
LOUIS L. HOHENTHAL received a B.S. in Education from the Teacher's College, New Britain, and has been doing graduate work in education at the University of Connecticut.

LISPIERDARD B. PHISTER was elected Secretary of the Committee on Canons of the House of Deputies for the 55th General Convention.

BEAUFORT R. NEWSON'S daughter, Ann Beach, is engaged to Mr. Donald E. Ullrich of Clinton, Conn.

ALFRED N. GUERTIN was one of the lecturers at the University of Connecticut last June at the Institute conducted by the American Association of Chartered Life Underwriters.

THURSTON MACAULEY is an editor with Readers Press, Inc., New York City. He was with INS for two years as a war correspondent. He covered the Petain trial, and SHEAF in Paris. His third book, The Great Horse Omnibus is about to be published.

LT. COL. MILTON H. RICHMAN has been awarded the Army Bronze Star medal. He is president of the Hartford Reserve Officers Association.

The RT. REV. CONRAD H. GESNER received the honorary degree of Doctor of Sacred Theology from the General Theological Seminary last May.

DOUGLAS S. PERRY has been elected President of the Boston Chapter of Chartered Life Underwriters and is a Director of the American Society of Chartered Life Underwriters. He has moved to Melrose, Mass.

STEVENSON WEBSTER is teaching again at St. James School, Maryland. He received his M.A. in English from the University of Virginia.

ALFRED L. PEIKER is administrative assistant and associate manager of the Calco Chemical Division of the American Cyanamid, Boundbrook, N.J.

RICHARD N. FORD has completed twenty years with the Life Insurance Agency Management Association. He is assistant director in charge of publications.

DR. MORTON H. CHAPNICK is practicing medicine in Putnam, Conn.

JAMES E. BENT attended the National Savings and Loan League conference in Miami in October.

The REV. JOHN E. LARGE will represent Trinity at the inauguration of William S. Carlson as President of the University of Delaware on October 26.

DR. EDWIN J. NUGENT has discontinued his private practice, and will remain as Medical Director of the Rochester Products Division of General Motors Corp., New York.

The REV. GEORGE HARDMAN has been elected rector of St. Paul's Church, Brockton, Mass. While serving as CHAPLAIN in the 1st Marine Division during the Okinawa invasion he was awarded a letter of Commendation and Ribbon. His citation reads in part: "Lieutenant Hardman displayed exceptional zeal and courage in administering spiritually to the sick and wounded."
KARL F. KOENIG has been promoted from the rank of assistant professor to that of associate professor of German at Colgate University.

DR. WILLIAM PITT has resigned as director of community education at the Hartford Veterans Service Center. He has joined the Veterans Administration in Brooklyn, N. Y., as chief of the rehabilitation and education section.

MARCEL L. DOUBLIER is with the RCA International Division in New York City. He is living in Mountain Lakes, N. J.

LOUIS LaBELLA is studying for his Master's degree at Columbia in the Social Sciences. He served as a Public Health and Welfare officer in Germany.

GEORGE BLAUVELT has been appointed Administrative Assistant of the William Penn Charter School, Philadelphia.

ROBERT A. MULLER has opened a law office in New York City under the name of Roberts & Muller. He was a Captain in the Judge Advocate General's Office.

The REV. LAURISTON L. SCAIFE will represent Trinity at the inauguration of James Herbert Case, Jr., as President of Washington and Jefferson College, October 25.

WILLIAM A. BOEGER, JR., has been appointed general sales manager of Duotone Co., Inc., in New York.

G. KEITH FUNSTON addressed the Hartford Medical Society at its one hundredth anniversary celebration, September 16. He will represent Trinity at the inauguration of Paul M. Limbert at Springfield College on October 26, and of Charles W. Cole at Amherst on October 27.

PHILIP J. ACQUAVIVA is one of the twenty-seven newspaper men who has been selected to attend the American Press Institute seminar at Columbia University starting October 25 for two weeks.

WILLIAM C. NORVELL is a design engineer with the Civil Aeronautics Board for the electrical equipment to be used on airports in connection with the new National Airport Program. He lives in Riderwood, Maryland, and has two daughters, Lynne and Christina.

NATHANIEL T. CLARK is treasurer of the Frost Cooked Food Co., of Boston, Mass.

EDGAR H. CRAIG received his Master's degree in Business Administration from the University of Chicago. He is also making rapid advances at Marshall Field & Co.

DR. ALFRED B. DIXON was released from the Army Medical Corps last June. He has reopened his office in Baltimore, and is also on the teaching staff of the Johns Hopkins Medical School as an assistant in Obstetrics.

ADRIAN ONDERDONK set out this summer to fulfill an old yearning—to walk from Hagerstown, Maryland, to Hartford. Blisters and heavy rain upset his calculations, but he did lose 25 pounds before he got to Bear Mountain, N. Y. The New Haven system then took over.

CAPTAIN ROBERT F. SCHMOLZE has been with the Marines on Kyushu Island since September 1945. He expects to come home this fall.

GUSTAV H. UHLIG has gone into the textile business in Newburgh, N. Y.

1935 —

HARVEY HOWARD served as head of the Mathematics Department at the Airplane School, Willow Run Bomber Plant, during the war. He has three sons—Bill, Fred, and Tom.

1936 —

JOHN HANNA has been appointed to the Department of English at Simmons College in Boston. He is continuing his graduate work at Harvard for his Ph. D. degree.

ARTHUR V. JENSEN has just commenced his duties as Assistant Professor of Anatomy at the University of North Carolina.

CAPTAIN WILLIAM M. KIRBY, who is presently stationed at the Regional Station Hospital, Fort Bragg, N. C., as Assistant Chief of the Medical Service, expects to leave the Army in a few months to take up his duties as Instructor in Medicine at the Stanford University School of Medicine, San Francisco, Calif.

NORMAN H. G. MOORE has been promoted to office manager of the Brooklyn Branch office of International Business Machine Corp.

KARL STREMEIL is a special agent representing the Massachusetts Protective Co. in Jackson, Michigan. He was overseas for three years in the South Pacific with the 19th Infantry of the 24th Division.

1937 —

DR. JOHN BELLIS is out of the Army after three years service. He is practicing medicine in Kennett Square, Penn. His brother, Dave, entered Trinity in September as a freshman.

BRUCE RANDALL, JR., is a sales representative with the Encyclopaedia Britannica in New York City.

1938 —

JOSEPH ASTMAN is teaching at St. Joseph's College, Hartford, and studying at Yale for his Ph. D.

WILLIAM F. BOLES has joined the American Woolen Co. at their Webster, Mass. plant as an assistant to the production manager.

ROBERT CONNAR is now service representative for Pratt & Whitney Aircraft Co. in Florida.

ARTHUR KORET (KORETSKY) is in charge of Columbia records in the Hartford area. He has been married to the former Miss Beatrice Teicher, and they have two children, Robert and Jerrold. He recently sang the lead role in Pagliacci over television, but admits his singing is still his avocation only.

JOHN M. LEON, JR., was honorably discharged, January 13, 1946, after five years with the Cavalry and Air Force, with the rank of Captain. He has returned to work with the real estate firm of Brown, Wheelock, Harris, Stevens, NYC.

GARY MERRILL is playing the reporter in the Garson Kanin comedy Born Yesterday at the Lyceum in New York.

DESMOUR PODOROSKY will open a dental office in Hartford, this fall. He was with the Dental Corps in New Guinea and the Philippines.

WILLIAM H. POMEROY became a civilian on October 5, and expects to set up a practice in some Connecticut town. Formerly, he was a Captain in the Army Medical Corps, and stationed at Letterman General Hospital's Crissy Annex, in San Francisco, as Chief of Medical Service.
LT. LEWIS M. WALKER, JR., was awarded the Bronze Star for meritorious achievement at Iwo Jima and Okinawa in landing operations and sea rescue under extremely hazardous conditions of enemy fire and kamikaze attacks.

--- 1939 ---

DANIEL J. CRUSON has been discharged from the Army, and has practiced an office for the practice of dentistry in Black Rock, Conn. We hear that the stork leased to inactive naval duty. He is practicing medicine in Waterbury, Conn.

LAWRENCE J. NEWHALL has been appointed English instructor and Assistant to the President of Athens College, Greece. He sailed October 4th on the S. S. Vulkania.

The REV. ARTHUR M. SHERMAN has been assistant rector of the Church of the Incarnation in New York City.

FRANCIS A. STOCKWELL, JR., has become associated with the Automobile Insurance Co. of Hartford as an examiner.

--- 1940 ---

ROBERT CRABBE has taken a position as Freshman English Instructor at Syracuse University, and is completing work for his Trinity M.A.

The REV. ROBERT S. KERR assumed the duties of Rector of the Church of the Good Shepherd, Barre, Vermont, on July 1.

RALPH SHELLY is with the Tennessee Eastman Corporation. He is a chemist in the plastic division and writes, "I am very thankful for the Chemistry background I picked up at Trinity. Even after the long lay-off it comes back surprisingly fast."

--- 1941 ---

DAVID E. CALLAGHAN is living in Brooklyn. He has returned to the American Airlines where he is a passenger agent at LaGuardia Field.

LT. HERBERT I. CHAUSER has been assigned to U. S. 7th Army, Ft. McClellan, Ala., although he is still in the U. S. N. R.

RALPH S. GROVER is now a student at the Juilliard School of Music in New York City.

LIEUTENANT JOSEPH N. RUSSO, M.C., after completing his medical officer's basic training at Fort Sam Houston, Texas, has been assigned to the South Pacific theatre of operations.

--- 1942 ---

JAC A. CUSHMAN has joined the Louis deRonge Agency of the Columbian National Life Insurance Company, Hartford, as special agent.

ROBERT E. duPREY is recovering from a serious illness. He plans to begin his duties at the Jersey City Medical Center where he has an appointment as a resident in cancer surgery.

CHARLES A. KUEHN is studying for his M.A. degree at the University of Michigan.

JAMES D. MIRBNE is at the University of Connecticut Law School.

ROBERT A. SMILLIE, JR., is studying for his Ph. D. in Chemistry at Columbia.

--- 1943 ---

WALTER ACKER is a chemist with Pratt & Whitney Aircraft.

MATTHEW A. BAXTER was discharged from the Navy in January '46, and is now working in the Laboratory of the Weatherhead Co., Cleveland, Ohio.

RAYMOND CUNNINGHAM, JR., is studying at the Episcopal Theological School.

GREENVILLE K. McVICKAR is working for the E. I. DuPont de Nemours Co. in the plastics department.

DAVID A. TYLER, JR., is with Allen, Russell and Allen, Hartford.

--- 1944 ---

HARRY BALFE, II, is the Democratic candidate for the New York State Assembly, 9th District, Manhattan.

ROGER CONANT is at the Georgetown University Medical School. He met PAUL GOULET, '44, who is at the Georgetown Law School.

RICHARD DANIELSON is now a teacher of General Science at Manchester High School, Manchester, Conn.

DR. RAYMOND J. JAK has received a commission as FIRST LIEUTENANT in the Army.

WILLIAM SIELLER is a senior at the University of Buffalo. He is teaching part-time in the English department there.

The REV. WILLIAM B. SPOFFORD, JR., has left the Church of the Good Shepherd, Boston, to become Executive Secretary of the Church League for Industrial Democracy.

HENRY D. TWITCHELL, JR., has returned to Trinity. His brother, GEORGE, '46, is enrolled at M.I.T.

--- 1945 ---

FRASER B. DREW is teaching at the New York State College for Teachers at Buffalo. He graduated from the University of Vermont, and received his M.A. from Duke.

ROBERT H. HARRISON is a student at Oklahoma University. His work in sculpture and portraiture has won him acclaim at art exhibitions in Oklahoma City.

WARD V. HART, JR., is at present attached to the field party in Bakersfield of the United Geophysical Co., Pasadena, California.

BERTRAM L. SMITH, JR., is studying at the University of Texas.

--- 1946 ---

JAMES A. CUNNINGHAM will go to the University of Virginia Law School this February.

CHARLES HAZEN is with The Connecticut General Life Insurance Company in Hartford.

HAROLD RICHMAN has been discharged from the Navy. He was a radar technician at Pearl Harbor and Guam.

EDWARD VIGNONE is with the Marchant Calculator Co. in Hartford.

JAMES W. VINCENT is with the Underwood Typewriter Company in Hartford.

WALTER B. W. WILSON is at the Fletcher School of Diplomacy, Tufts College.

--- Engagements ---

--- 1939 ---

DAVID DAVIDSON is engaged to Miss Ruth Goldberg of Brookline, Mass. He is now a research assistant at Harvard University.
JOHN T. CARPENTER is engaged to Miss Cornelia Hope Smith of Burlington, Vt. He is now Assistant Executive Secretary of the Vermont Tuberculosis Association.

JOHN A. SWEETSER is engaged to Miss Druaime Blackmore of Los Angeles.

THOMAS V. W. ASHTON is engaged to Miss Jean W. Peters of Woodbridge, Conn. He has been on a minesweeper operating in the Marianas.

DREW. Q. BRINKERHOFF is engaged to Miss Barbara Ellen Kane of West Hartford. He is the commanding officer of the Blackmore of Los Angeles.

DR. JOSEPH CASTAGNO is engaged to Dr. Mary E. Flanagan of Brooklyn, N. Y.

JULIUS FORD RANSOM, JR., is engaged to Miss Mary Pricilla Ellsworth of Windsor, Connecticut.

THEODORE B. CONKLIN, JR., is engaged to Miss Natalie Harkness O'Brien of New York City.

DONALD E. JONES is engaged to Miss Marion Louise Plache of Ridgefield Park, New Jersey.

EDWARD B. RISLEY is engaged to Miss Jean Roberta Spettigue of Leominster, Mass.

ROBERT SANDERSON CROSS is engaged to Miss Constance Rockwell of West Hartford, Conn. He is the grandson of former Governor WILBUR L. CROSS (Hon. 1935) of Connecticut.

RICHARD McIntOSH GARDNER is engaged to Miss Joanne Telft of Janesville, Wisc.

CHANDLER GIFFORD, JR., is engaged to Miss Laura Benedict of Chestnut Hill and Duxbury, Mass.

DAVID D. MAKEL is engaged to Miss Elizabeth Billings of Albion, N. Y. He served in the Pacific Theatre as FIRST LIEUTENANT of his ship, and also gunnery officer.

JAMES HALSEY is engaged to Miss Marie Mahler of Scarsdale, N. Y.

EDWARD OBERT is engaged to Miss Ruth Marie Sedimmer of Milford, Conn.

GARET SHEPHERD is engaged to Miss Constance Natalie Gearwar of Rosindale, Mass. He served in Europe for eighteen months with the Army.

WILLIAM GEORGE WEAVER is engaged to Miss Alice Elfreda Larson of Stamford, Conn.

JOHN T. CAMPION was married on June 18 to Miss Charlotte Ursula Daly of Windsor Locks, Conn. He was with the Combat Engineers in the Southwest Pacific.

DOUGLAS W. RANKIN was married to Miss Marguerite Ethel Gaynor of Rye, N. Y., on June 22. He served three years overseas as a Captain in the Army Air Corps. He is with the Homelite Corporation Boston, Mass.

JOEL J. BROOKE was married to Miss Avery Rogers of Wakefield, R. I., on September 14. BARD McNULTY, '38, and WILLIAM PAYNTER, '37, were ushers, and STEWART M. OGILVY, '36 was the best man.

EARL H. FLYNN was married to MISS ETHELM. ATWATER, Trinity M.A. 1945, on August 17 in the College Chapel. He is with the highway control division of the state of Connecticut.

OGDEN KNAPP was married to Miss Anne Greenwood Thompson on August 25 at Montclair, N. J.

RICHARD K. MORRIS married Miss Anne Louise Smith of South Portland, Maine, on July 1, at Clinton, Conn. He is teaching at the Chester High School, Chester, Conn. He is also studying for his master's degree in Education at Yale.

GEORGE H. M. ROUNTREE, JR., was married to Miss Annette Louise Atwater of New Britain, Conn., on September 6.

LAWRENCE B. MARSHALL was married to Miss Betsey Day Pease of Hartford in the College Chapel on September 7. He served as a LIEUTENANT in the Coast Guard Reserve, and is now studying for his M.A. degree at Columbia.

PHILIP T. SEHL was married to Miss Floydene Lorell Norrod of Crossville, Tennessee, on June 29 in the College Chapel. He expects to be discharged from active duty in the Dental Corps of the Navy in October, and to begin his private practice in the Hartford area.

ARCHIE MESHENUK was married to Miss Dorothy Evans of Medford, N. J., on June 29.

CHARLES E. THENEBE was married to Miss Helen Margueretta Hibbard of Port Chester, N. Y., on August 23.

RAYMOND B. BARNES was married to Miss Alice Adele Cook of West Haven, Conn., on July 13. He served three years in the Navy. He has resumed his course at Trinity.

BAYARD T. DAVIDSON married Miss Elizabeth Butterfield of Bermuda, April 4, 1945. He is now learning the investment business with Stein Bros. & Bryce of Baltimore, Md.

FRANKLIN R. HOADLEY, JR., was married on June 29 to Miss Margaretta Dixon Wharton of Stonington, Conn.

JOHN N. HOBB was married on July 12 to Miss Sarah Parker Meigs of Chestnut Hill, Mass. TED CONKLIN, '44, was one of the ushers. JOHN was promoted to assistant superintendent of the Wuskanut Worsted Corp. of Grafton, Mass., as of July 1st.

LAWRENCE J. KAVANAUGH was married on June 9 to Miss Virginia Marilyn Linke of the Bronx, N.Y.

ALFRED J. STAFFORD, JR., was married to Miss Phyllis Bullock of Burlington, Vermont, on August 26, 1946. He has completed his fourth year at the Tufts Dental School.
PAUL R. WARREN married Miss Isobel Roberts Hunter on June 27 in the College Chapel. A reception was held in the Psi U house. He is associated with Joseph Middleby of Boston.

— 1944 —

JOSEPH D. BALLARD was married to Miss Elizabeth C. Barton of Winnetka, Illinois, on September 7. HUGH VANDERBILT, ’44, was an usher.

ANDREW B. BEATTIE married Miss Teodzia Kurek on June 7 at Bad Kissingen, Germany. He is returning to Trinity as a Junior.

HENRY R. WICKEN DEN was married to Miss Violet Anne Duncan of Bayside, New York, on September 7.

— 1945 —

LINCOLN C. COLLINS was married to Miss Janet White Crocker of Marblehead, Mass., at St. Michael’s Episcopal Church, Marblehead, on August 10th.

WALTER H. JOYNER was married to Miss Wilma Shade of Hartford on July 9. He was a Flight Officer in the Air Forces.

— 1946 —

HARVEY CLAYTON RUHF was married on June 10 to Miss Dorothy Caroline Opitz of Springfield, Mass.

KENNETH WYNE, JR., was married to Miss Patricia FitzGerald of New Haven on July 8. He reentered Trinity this September.

Births

— 1922 —

THEODORE L. HOLDEN became the father of a daughter, Katharine Elizabeth, on May 15.

— 1931 M.S. —

SAMUEL A. TALBOT became the father of a daughter, Marion, on March 27. He was promoted to Associate Professor of Biophysics in Medicine, and Physiological Optics at Johns Hopkins Medical School on July 1.

— 1933 —

RICHARD J. P. EICHACKER became the father of a daughter, Susan Halliday, on June 19. He is an industrial methods engineer with the Andover Kent Aviation Corp., Middletown, Conn.

— 1934 —

CHARLES B. McCLURE, JR., became the father of a new daughter, Ann, July 26. He was appointed Detroit District Manager for Ediphone Co., in charge of the Detroit and Toledo branches.

— 1935 —

JOHN A. AMPORT became the father of a son, John Frederick, on January 30. The baby is the third child, and the first boy.

— 1936 —

ALBERT M. DEXTER, JR., became the father of a second son, Thomas Harris, on May 6.

— 1937 —

CARL W. LINDELL became the father of a daughter, Laura Anne, on Aug. 3. He is now a distributor for the California Oil Company, and living in Jacksonville, Florida.

— 1938 —

The REV. C. GEORGE WIDDIFIELD became the father of a daughter, Katharine Scarlett, on July 28, at St. Louis.

— 1939 —

THOMAS W. McKEOWN became the father of a son, Thomas, Jr., on May 15. During the war he served as a pilot in the AAF, and is now flying as Commercial Airline Pilot for Eastern Airlines.

CLARENCE B. MORGAN, JR., became the father of a daughter, Nancy Jane, on July 15. His wife is the former Miss Esther L. Linsley of Plainville, Conn.

— 1940 M.A. —

CHRISTOPHER A. ADAMS became the father of a daughter, Deborah Jane, on June 7. He is stationed at Cushing General Hospital, Framingham, Mass.

PALMER J. McCLOSKEY, JR., became the father of a second son, Richard Palmer, on July 22. He was separated from the Army with the rank of LT. COLONEL, and intends to practice law in Charleston, Penn.

— 1941 —

HAROLD HEAP became the father of a son, Harold, on July 24. He was a CAPTAIN in the Army, and was decorated with the Croix de Guerre and four Battle Stars.

— 1942 —

ROBERT K. PILLSBURY became the father of a second son, Charles Laraway, on Father’s Day, June 16.

MARTIN D. WOOD became the father of a son, Martin D. Jr., on July 11.

— 1944 —

JOSEPH W. INK became the father of a daughter, Susan, on August 16.

— 1946 M.A. —

MRS. NEIL COMERFORD became the mother of a son, Walter Thomas, on August 31. Her father is WALTER S. PAINE, Hon. 1943.

— 1947 —

RICHARD K. WEISENFLUH became the father of a daughter, Martha Lynne, on September 4.

The Boston Alumni Association is having luncheon meetings the first Wednesday of each month at Patten’s Restaurant, Second Floor, 41 Court St., at 1 P.M. Any Trinity man is cordially welcome.

The Hartford Alumni plan a Smoker Friday, November 15, at the Hartford Golf Club, the night before the Wesleyan game.

The Philadelphia Alumni Association is holding luncheons the second Tuesday of each month at Kuglers Downtown Restaurant at 12:30 P.M. They held a very successful luncheon on September 10th for the seventeen sub-freshman in the area. Thirteen freshmen came and heard talks by President RON KINNEY and LIPPY PHISTER who was in town for the General Convention of the Episcopal Church.

The New York Alumni Association is holding informal dinners on the third Wednesday of each month at 6 P.M. at the Old Timers Grill, 7 East 40th Street.